IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

2008 - CA - 01425

RONNIE E. NOBLIN, HENRY C. NOBLIN, JR., THOMAS C. NOBLIN, ROBBIE NOBLIN, NELL NOBLIN JOHNSON, DIANE BOYKIN, and JOYCE MILLER

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS

VS.

SAMMY J. BURGESS and SHEILA MCDILL

DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Smith County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Oral Argument Requested

Eugene C. Tullos (MSB P. O. Box 74 Raleigh, Mississippi 39153 (601) 782-4242

G. David Garner (MSB P. O. Box 789 Raleigh, Mississippi 39153 (601) 782-9090

William F. Goodman, Jr. (MSB † Lewis W. Bell (MSB WATKINS & EAGER PLLC P.O. Box 650 Jackson, Mississippi 39205 (601) 965-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

1.	Nature of the Case.
	2.	Course of the proceedings.
	3.	Disposition in the Court Below
	4.	Statement of the Facts
Summ	nary of	the Argument12
Argur	nent	14
Noblins Because The "Will" V		ourt Must Reverse and Render For The ns Because The "Will" Was The Product due Influence
	A.	A confidential relationship in fact existed between Bob Noblin and Sammy and Sheila
	В.	Sammy and Sheila were actively involved with the preparation and execution of the "will"
	C.	Undue influence on the part of Sammy and Sheila is presumed
	D.	There is no clear and convincing evidence to rebut the presumption

II.	Alternatively, The Court Must Reverse And Remand Because The Noblins Were Materially			
		udiced By Erroneous Instructions	31	
	i ieji	udiced by Enoneous instructions		
	A.	The existence of the confidential relationship		
		is not disputed, and making it a jury question		
		was reversible error	31	
	В.	Testamentary capacity was a jury issue,		
		and its peremptory disposition by the trial		
		court was reversible error	33	
Conc	clusion	1	41	

Table of Authorities

Cases: Page
Croft v. Alder, 237 Miss. 713, 115 So.2d 683 (1959)3, 15, 18, 21, 22, 29,30, 42
Forbes v. General Motors Corp., 935 So.2d 869 (Miss. 2006)33
In Estate of Holmes, 961 So.2d 674 (Miss. 2007)13, 15, 23, 24, 25, 26, 34
In re Estate of Pope, 2008 WL 2097593 (Miss. App. 2008) 24, 26, 31
In re Estate of Smith, 827 So.2d 673 (Miss. 2002)22, 23, 24, 31
Jamison v. Jamison, 96 Miss. 288, 51 So. 130 (1909)22
Johnson v. Bay City South Mortgage Co., 928 So.2d 888 (Miss. App. 2005)22
Mullins v. Ratcliff, 515 So.2d 1183 (Miss. 1987)23
Murray v. Laird, 446 So.2d 575 (Miss. 1984)15, 23, 24, 26
Pallatin v. Jones, 638 So.2d 493 (Miss. 1994)
Travelhost, Inc. v. Blandford, 68 F.3d 958 (5th Cir. 1995)
Miscellaneous:
Pomeroy, Equity Jurisprudence (4th Ed.)
Weems, Wills and Administration of Estates in Mississippi, § 8-1 (1988)14

Statement Of The Issues

The issue is devisavit vel non.

- 1. Whether as a matter of law there was a fiduciary and confidential relationship between the proponents (Sammy and Sheila) and the decedent (Bob Noblin).
- 2. Whether as a matter of law Sammy and Sheila are presumed to have unduly influenced Bob Noblin.
- 3. Whether as a matter of law Sammy and Sheila failed to establish a case by clear and convincing evidence on which a jury could reasonably base a finding to overcome the presumption.
- 4. Alternatively, whether the court below erred in (a) instructing the jury that the existence or not of a confidential relationship was a disputed question of fact, and/or in (b) peremptorily instructing the jury that Bob Noblin possessed the requisite testamentary capacity.

Statement Of The Case

1. Nature Of The Case.

This is a will contest. The decedent, Robert H. (Bob) Noblin, was a resident of Scott County who died of cancer during the very early morning of October 3, 2003, leaving no close family. His wife had predeceased him and he had no children.

The proponents of a purported will in which they are the sole devisees and legatees (beneficiaries) are Sammy Burgess and Sheila McDill, grown children from an earlier marriage of Bob Noblin's deceased wife. Bob Noblin never adopted Sammy and Sheila but their connection and involvement with him established a classic example of what the law recognizes as a confidential relationship.

Contestants, Ronnie E. Noblin and others, are heirs at law of Bob Noblin who receive the full estate by intestate succession and nothing under the purported will.

Bob Noblin had long been aware of the result of dying intestate, particularly that heirs at law would inherit the "family farm." (Tr. 239-40, 279). There is no evidence in the record that he ever made a will or even considered making a will, before purportedly doing so only a few hours before death. The "will"-related events during the final hours of Bob Noblin's life were instigated and implemented

by Sammy and Sheila. These included: selecting and contacting a lawyer (Tr. 160-61); arranging for indirect telephone contact between the lawyer and the dying Bob Noblin (with Sammy in the room with Bob Noblin and conveniently serving as the intermediary)(Tr. 161-62); transporting the quickly prepared document from the lawyer's office to the hospital (Tr. 166, 182); finding witnesses (Tr. 166-67)(even when several nurses declined to undertake that responsibility with all of its implications)(Tr. 108); obtaining signatures; and maintaining control and custody of the "executed" document. (Tr. 398). Sammy and Sheila's confidential relationship with Bob Noblin coupled with their "take charge" involvement with every material circumstance surrounding his alleged dying bequests to them of everything he possessed created a presumption of undue influence. The record is devoid of facts sufficient to overcome that presumption.

2. Course Of The Proceedings.

Sammy and Sheila chose Smith County Chancery rather than Scott County Chancery as the forum to commence probate proceedings. (R. 6, RE tab 1). When the heirs at law asked for a jury trial on their challenge to the validity of the proffered "will," the Chancellor invoked his local practice and transferred the contest to Smith County Circuit for jury trial. (R. 83).

At the close of the evidence there was no issue of material fact requiring resolution by the jury. The trial judge should have peremptorily instructed the jury

to find for the contestants. There was no will, because:

- The relationship between Bob Noblin and Sammy and Sheila was shown to be a fiduciary one and one of confidentiality.
- Sammy and Sheila were shown to have been actively involved in the preparation and execution of the "will."
- Because of the confidential relationship and because of their active involvement in the procurement of the "will," undue influence on the part of Sammy and Sheila is presumed.
- Sammy and Sheila failed to make a case by clear and convincing evidence on which the jury could reasonably base a finding to overcome the presumption.
- The tendered document, having been unduly influenced, is invalid.
- This is true whether or not Bob Noblin possessed the requisite testamentary capacity when he signed the presumptively invalid document.

3. Disposition In The Court Below.

The court below denied contestants' request for a peremptory instruction.
(R. 423). That was error.

The court below submitted to the jury whether from the evidence there was a fiduciary and confidential relationship between the decedent and the

beneficiaries. (R. 396-97). That was error.*

The court below also submitted to the jury whether from clear and convincing evidence the beneficiaries had overcome the presumption of undue influence. (R. 396-97). That also was error.*

The court below withheld from the jury and peremptorily decided the question of testamentary capacity. (R. 421). That, too, was error.*

The jury, faced with confusing and erroneous instructions, found for the proponents. (R. 435). Whether the verdict was based on misunderstanding the confidential relationship or misunderstanding the presumption of undue influence, or both, is unknown. The extent to which the verdict resulted from the peremptory instruction on testamentary capacity is also unknown.

The court below entered judgment for the proponents. (R. 440, RE tab 2). Contestants' motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial was denied. (R. 452, RE tab 2). This appeal followed.

4. Statement Of The Facts.

Bob Noblin grew up and worked "Noblin land" his whole life in the rural Homewood Community in Scott County, Mississippi along with and among other

^{*}Review of these errors on this appeal is necessary only if the court should decline to reverse and render.

Noblins, his blood relatives, some of whom are the appellants in this case. The Homewood Community was settled by Noblins in the 1830s, and Noblins have owned and lived on land in the Homewood Community continuously since the area was settled. (Tr. 239, 279). Noblin land descended from one generation to another. Bob Noblin received his land from his parents. (Tr. 240). The Noblin appellants (hereinafter "the Noblins") are the uncle and first cousins of Bob Noblin. Bob Noblin's first cousins got title to their lands from their parents, who were Noblin's aunts and uncles. (Tr. 240-41).

Bob Noblin's primary job until he retired was an inspector for the U.S.

Department of Agriculture at poultry processing facilities in Forest. (Tr. 277).

Through that work he met and married Frances Burgess (Tr. 383) when he was approximately 48 years old in 1982. (Tr. 151). That was his one and only marriage. When Frances married Noblin, she had two adult children, appellees Sammy Burgess and Sheila McDill. In addition to his job as a U.S.D.A. inspector, Noblin ran a cattle farm on 500 acres of Noblin land he owned in the Homewood Community. (Tr. 234-36, 179). He also owned land in Smith County. (Tr. 277-78). Frances died in 1994. (Tr. 151). Noblin never had any children (Tr. 241) and never adopted Sammy and Sheila. Noblin was 69 years old when he died at 12:10 am on October 3, 2003. (Tr. 234). Noblin lived his entire life without a will until October 2, 2003, when he was within hours of his death.

Noblin knew how to manage his own finances. He managed his own finances without help from Sammy or Sheila. (Tr. 157-58, 179). He operated a successful cattle farm. He had an individual retirement account and certificates of deposit in which Sammy and Sheila were listed as surviving beneficiaries. These certificates of deposit were paid out to Sammy and Sheila on October 24, 2003. (Exh. P-12 & P-13, Tr. 315, 317).

In 2001, seven years after Noblin's wife died, Sammy divorced his wife and to save money moved in with Noblin, who was living in the home his deceased wife Frances owned in Forest. (Tr. 388).

On September 23, 2003, Sammy took Noblin to see Sammy's doctor, Dr. John Paul Lee, in Forest because Noblin had been having physical problems. (Tr. 390). Sammy then took Noblin to be admitted to Lackey Memorial Hospital in Forest on September 24, 2003. (Tr. 391-92). Sammy and Sheila cared for Bob Noblin while he was in the hospital in Forest. (Tr. 156). Bob Noblin was diagnosed with widespread metastatic liver and pancreatic cancer and was dying. (Tr. 194, 283).

On September 29, 2003 Sammy drove Bob Noblin from the hospital in Forest to the Baptist Hospital in Jackson because Noblin was unable to drive. (Tr. 158-59). Noblin was throwing up when he and Sammy arrived at the hospital. (Tr. 393). Appellant Diane Boykin, who was Noblin's first cousin and who saw Noblin for the last time in the hospital in Forest, testified that Noblin said he was

not going to Jackson for treatment. (Tr. 293). Sammy testified that Noblin decided to go to Jackson. (Tr. 392). When Noblin arrived at Baptist Hospital, he was gravely ill. His condition worsened every day. (Tr. 213). On September 29, 2003, Noblin was placed in the oncology unit in room 5106-A at Baptist Hospital. Bob Noblin never left room 5106-A.

From September 29, 2003 to 12:10 am, October 3, 2003, Sammy or Sheila or both were with Bob Noblin continuously during the day and took turns spending the night with him. (Tr. 394-95). Noblin was dependent on them for care, personal needs and hygiene. (Tr. 170, 177, 403). Soon after his arrival at Baptist Hospital, doctors determined that Noblin had no treatment options other than controlling his pain with medication. (Tr. 201-02). On October 1st, plans were being made to transfer Noblin to a hospice facility. (Tr. 195).

Bob Noblin's illness and/or the medications he was taking affected his mind. On September 30th he told a nurse he was waiting on his wife to bring him clothes. (Exh. C-2, R. 217). His wife had been dead for nine years. (Tr. 402). Noblin ate almost nothing during the four days he was in Baptist Hospital. (Tr. 197). According to Sheila, on October 1st and October 2nd (the day the "will" was signed) Noblin had nothing to eat. (Tr. 176). Doctor and nurse notes on October 1st describe Noblin as: hallucinating and hearing voices (Exh. C-2, R. 220); very lethargic (decreased level of consciousness) and not participating in conversations with nurses. (Exh. C-2, R. 180).

On October 2nd, the day he signed the "will," Dr. Shumaker, Noblin's treating oncologist at Baptist Hospital, noted in his chart that he was lethargic, his eyes were more yellow from jaundice and he was not eating. (Exh. C-2, R. 181; Tr. 200-01). Noblin was given Demerol intravenously for pain that day. (Exh. C-2, R. 237).

On October 1st, Sammy called life-long friend Todd Sorey on his cell phone from Noblin's hospital room. Only Bob Noblin and Sammy were present. (Tr. 160-62). Sorey is an attorney who grew up and has lived in the Homewood Community. He knew Sammy, Bob Noblin and the Noblin appellants. (Tr. 119-22). According to Sammy, he called Sorey because Bob Noblin wanted Sorey to prepare a will for him. (Tr. 124). Sorey told Sammy to make an appointment for Bob Noblin to come see him. Id. Only then did Sammy tell Sorey that Bob Noblin was hospitalized and too ill to come to him. *Id.* In the telephone call, Sammy told Sorey that Bob Noblin wanted to leave all of his estate to Sammy and Sheila. (Tr. 126-27). Sammy said he relayed Sorey's questions about the content of the will to Bob Noblin, and Sorey said he heard Bob Noblin's responses over the phone. (Tr. 125-26). Sorey gave Bob Noblin no legal advise, either directly or indirectly. Sorey prepared Bob Noblin's one and one-quarter page "will," and Sheila picked it up at Sorey's office the next day, October 2nd, and took it to the hospital to be signed. (Tr. 424). Bob Noblin never saw, met with, called or spoke directly to Sorey. (Tr. 124, 128, 137, 140). Sorey, who had been out of law

school a year (Tr. 120), had never done any legal work for Bob Noblin (Tr. 141) and had not seen him in six to eight months. (Tr. 122). Sorey knew Noblin's blood relatives, the Noblins, because he grew up and has lived in the Homewood Community where the Noblins have their land. (Tr. 129).

When Sheila arrived at the hospital with the "will," Sammy asked a nurse to help him get witnesses and a notary. (Tr. 166-67). Several nurses refused to be witnesses. (Tr. 108). Nurses Callum and Thornton agreed to witness the "will." and hospital employee Gail Young notarized it. ("Will," Exh. P-1). Sammy and Sheila were in the room with Bob Noblin when the "will" was signed. (Tr. 424). Sammy and Sheila called Callum to testify at trial. Callum did not remember taking care of Bob Noblin in the hospital, but said she "probably did at some point during his care." (Tr. 88). She testified that she read the "will" and talked to Noblin and concluded that the "will" contained what Noblin wanted done. (Tr. 91). Callum twice said however that she could not remember any specifics of her conversation with Noblin. (Tr. 99, 103). She did not remember whether she asked Sammy and Sheila if they were Noblin's only relatives. (Tr. 104). She thought Sammy and Sheila were Bob Noblin's natural son and daughter, which was reinforced when she read the will's reference to them as his son and daughter. (Exh. P-1; Tr. 105-107). Gail Young did not remember Noblin or anything else that happened in Noblin's hospital room on October 2rd other than witnessing and notarizing signatures. (Tr. 116). Dr. Shumaker, who saw Bob Noblin every day

he was in Baptist Hospital, testified that she could not say that he had or did not have testamentary capacity. (Tr. 230).

Bob Noblin signed the "will" the afternoon of October 2nd, sometime between 12:00 pm and 3:00 pm. (Tr. 109). By approximately 7:00 pm that night, Bob Noblin was very near death. (Tr. 183). Sheila decided to allow a "Do Not Resuscitate" order to be given. (Tr. 183-84). Bob Noblin died at 12:10 am on October 3, 2003. (Tr. 204-05).

Summary of the Argument

During Bob Noblin's last hours, hospitalized and medicated and dying of cancer, the adult children of his deceased wife and with whom he had a close and confidential relationship, instigated the process of his making a deathbed will, participating in every detail. Their actions, suspicious in the eyes of the law, created the presumption they had become Bob Noblin's sole beneficiaries due to undue influence.

Clear and convincing evidence opposing the presumption, from sources apart from the beneficiaries themselves and the lawyer selected and instructed by them, is required to create a jury question as to the will's validity. Otherwise, the will is a nullity as a matter of law. The Court must conclude no such evidence exists because none was offered at trial.

Other than themselves (who between them kept constant watch over the testator) and their chosen lawyer (who never offered Bob Noblin advice or even saw him), whose testimony cannot suffice to negative the presumption, the beneficiaries relied at trial on the testimony of a nurse whom they had asked to witness the signing of the will. She opined on testamentary capacity, albeit without foundation, but had no knowledge whatever of what had taken place in private between the beneficiaries and the testator. She offered not a word of testimony sufficient to rebut the already existing presumption. Thus, at the close

of the evidence, there being no jury issue, the trial court should have peremptorily instructed the jury to find for the contestants (heirs at law).*

This result is mandated by a long and unwaivering line of cases, including *Croft v. Alder*, 237 Miss. 713, 115 So.2d 683 (Miss. 1959), and *In re Estate of Holmes*, 961 So.2d 674 (Miss. 2007).

^{*}The trial court gave the jury erroneous and prejudicial instructions so that, in any event, the verdict below cannot stand.

Argument

The ultimate single issue in any will contest is *devisavit vel non* or "will or no will." Weems, *Wills and Administration of Estates in Mississippi*, § 8-1 (1988). Long established common sense principles of law mandate the answer to that inquiry in this case: there is no will.

The relationship between Bob Noblin and Sammy and Sheila was a fiduciary one and one of confidentiality. When, in blatant violation of the restraints and obligations inherent in such a relationship, they actively involved themselves in the preparation and signing of the will, it is presumed they unduly influenced the testator. The presumption of undue influence can be overcome only with clear and convincing evidence. Sammy and Sheila did not come close to meeting that standard. The presumption of law stands and is dispositive of this case.

- I. The Court Must Reverse And Render For The Noblins Because The "Will" Was The Product Of Undue Influence.
 - A. A confidential relationship in fact existed between Bob Noblin and Sammy and Sheila.

The law on confidential relationships is well established in this State. A close relationship becomes a confidential or fiduciary relationship when (i) one party becomes dependent by reason of age or illness or otherwise and reposes trust

in the other party, and (ii) the party in whom trust is reposed is in position to have and exercise influence over the first party. *See, e.g., In Re Estate of Holmes*, 961 So.2d 674, 680 (Miss. 2007); *Murray v. Laird*, 446 So.2d 575, 578 (Miss. 1984); *Croft v. Alder*, 237 Miss. 713, 115 So.2d 683 (1959).

The existence of such a relationship between a testator and a beneficiary is particularly significant. [T]he law watches with the greatest jealousy transactions between persons in confidential relations." *Croft*, 115 So.2d at 687. Our jurisprudence is replete with instances where the Court has determined as a matter of law that such a relationship in fact existed between a testator and a beneficiary. One example is *Croft v. Alder* where the confidential relationship was held to exist between a testator (in very poor physical condition and health, and hospitalized when the will was signed) and a nephew/beneficiary (who during the testator's final months made frequent trips to visit the testator and to assist in his business and personal affairs). Another finding such a relationship to exist is *Holmes* where the granddaughter/beneficiary maintained a close relationship with the elderly testatrix, holding a power of attorney and handling her mail.

In this case, the Noblins proved the existence of a confidential relationship between Sammy and Sheila and Bob Noblin by overwhelming proof.

¹The relationship extends also to gifts, contracts and conveyances.

Sammy and Sheila had a close relationship with Bob Noblin. Sammy and Sheila and their friends who testified for them testified that Sammy and Sheila were very close to Bob Noblin, and that Bob Noblin actually treated them like a son and daughter. (Tr. 384, 421). Sammy lived with Bob Noblin from and after 2001. (Tr.157).

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