IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2008-CA-01425

RONNIE E. NOBLIN, HENRY C. NOBLIN, JR., THOMAS G. NOBLIN, ROBBIE NOBLIN, NELL NOBLIN JOHNSON, DIANE BOYKIN, AND JOYCE MILLER

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS

VS.

SAMMY J. BURGESS AND SHEILA MCDILL

DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES

IN RE: Appeal from the Circuit Court of Smith County, Mississippi Cause No. 2007-130

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEES, SAMMY J. BURGESS AND SHEILA MCDILL

Oral Argument is Not Requested

MARK K. TULLOS The Tullos Law Firm, PA Post Office Box 505 Raleigh, Mississippi 39153 Telephone: 601-782-4587 Facsimile: 601-782-4219 MS BAR NO

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES

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

evidence as to Bob's testamentary capacity at the time the will was executed. Contestants did offer the testimony of Dr. Grace Shumaker, which consisted primarily of testifying about certain portions of the medical records during Bob's hospitalization, none of which were at the time Bob signed his will. Contestants failed to inquire of Dr. Shumaker or ask the one crucial question relevant to the issue of testamentary capacity at the time the will was executed. Counsel for Sammy and Sheila, however, did ask this question of Dr. Shumaker, who testified that she could not give an opinion and would defer that determination to the nurses at Baptist who had assessed Bob at that particular time. Sammy and Sheila called Nurse Callum, a subscribing witness to the will and a nurse in the oncology department at Baptist Medical Center, who testified that Bob understood what he was doing and that he had testamentary capacity at the time he executed the Will. The Court in *Smith v. Averill*, 722 So. 2d 606 (Miss. 1998) held that "[w]hen weighing all the testimony, this Court has held that it is easiest for subscribing witnesses to tip the scales toward capacity. *Smith*, 722 So. 2d at 611.

ŗ

Even assuming Bob had experienced episodes of disorientation prior to, and after executing the Will, the evidence supports the Court's granting of a directed verdict in favor of proponents on the issue of testamentary capacity. In *Hayward*, the Court found that "[a]ssuming that there were detached incidents of conduct suggesting aberration, the establishment of intervals of unquestioned lucidity, during one of which the will was executed, so far outweighs the inferences from isolated instances of eccentric deviations as to depreciate such instances below a substantial probative value." *Hayward*, 299 So. 2d at 210. Likewise, in *Smith v. Averill*, the Court held that ". . . although a testator may not possess capacity one day, the next week he may have a lucid interval in which he has the capacity to execute a valid will. *Id*. 722 So. 2d at 611. The testimony of Nurse Callum, without any contradictory testimony or evidence, supports a directed verdict on the issue of Bob's testamentary capacity.

The jury in the present case was properly instructed on confidential relationship, presumptive undue influence, and undue influence. The jury was also instructed, pursuant to contestants' instructions C15 and C8, that Sammy and Sheila had to show from the clear and convincing evidence that they did not exert undue influence over Bob at the time he executed his will, and therefore, there was no prejudicial error.

Sammy and Sheila exhibited good faith; Bob acted with knowledge and deliberation when he executed his will; and Bob exhibited independent consent and action. Nurse Callum, a registered nurse trained and experienced in performing physical and mental assessments, spoke with Bob prior to signing the will and satisfied herself that, among other things, (a) Bob understood what he was doing, (b) that what was contained in the will was what Bob wanted, and (c) she did not feel as if there was any deceit taking place, and she felt as though she was upholding Bob's wishes.

Furthermore, Bob named Sammy and Sheila as beneficiaries under 3 separate certificates of deposit established by Bob at Community Bank of Mississippi. Bob listed Sammy and Sheila as his "son" and "daughter" on the applications for these certificates of deposit just as he did in his will. Furthermore, Sammy and Sheila were able to show that their relationship with Bob was liken to a father, and that Bob had the word "Father" carved above his name on his tombstone which clearly reflected his true relationship with the proponents.

The jury determined that Sammy and Sheila did not exert undue influence, presumptive or otherwise, on Bob by the clear and convincing evidence, and therefore, the verdict should be affirmed.

•

ARGUMENT

I. <u>The Trial Court Was Correct In Granting A Directed Verdict In Favor Of The</u> <u>Proponents On The Issue Of Testamentary Capacity.</u>

To determine testamentary capacity, the Court considers the following 3 factors:

- 1. Did the testat[or] have the ability at the time of the will to understand and appreciate the effects of [his] act?
- 2. Did the testat[or] have the ability at the time of the will to understand the natural objects or persons to receive [his] bounty and their relation to [him]?
- 3. Was the testat[or] capable to determining at the time of the will what disposition [he] desired to make of [his] property?

See In re Estate of Holmes, 961 So. 2d 674, 679 (Miss. 2007), citing Smith v. Averill, 722 So.

2d 606, 610 (Miss. 1998).

In the present case, after the close of the contestants case in chief, Sammy and Sheila moved for a directed verdict on the issue of Bob's testamentary capacity. (Tr. 296-308). After hearing argument from counsel for all parties, the trial court granted Sammy and Sheila's motion for a directed verdict on the issue of testamentary capacity based upon the evidence presented by Sammy and Sheila and the lack of evidence presented by the contestants, as well as this Court's ruling in *Hayward v. Hayward*, 299 So. 2d 207 (Miss. 1974). (Tr. 433-34).

In Forbes v. General Motors Cop., 935 So. 2d 869 (Miss. 2006), this Court outlined the

standard of review on directed verdicts:

.

į,

Our standard of review for a directed verdict is clear. This court will consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the non movement, giving that party . . . the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence. We must decide if the facts so considered point so overwhelmingly in favor of the movant that reasonable jurors could not have arrived at a contrary verdict. Thus, if reasonable jurors could not have arrived at a different verdict, the grant of a directed verdict must be affirmed on appeal. On the other hand, if there is substantial evidence, that is, evidence of such quality and weight that reasonable and fair-minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, we cannot affirm the grant of a directed verdict.

.

i

Forbes v. General Motors Corp., 935 So. 2d 869, 872 (Miss. 2006), citing Cousar v. State, 855 So. 2d 993, 998 (Miss. 2003).

The contestants argue that there are conflicts in the record concerning Bob's mental capacity precluding a directed verdict, and therefore the jury should have been given an opportunity to weigh that evidence and the credibility of accounts of the testator's mental state.

The facts concerning testamentary capacity in the present case are very similar to those in *In re Estate of Pigg*, 877 So. 2d 406 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003), In *Estate of Pigg*, the testator suffered several emotional and physical problems, breast cancer, gastrointestinal bleeding, and severe back problems. A witness called by the contestants who visited the testator while she was hospitalized testified that testator was on many medications and experienced hallucinations prior to executing the will. *Estate of Pigg*, 877 So. 2d at 410. Contestants also called Dr. Blaylock, who testified that "someone who had that many multiple problems . . . I'm not sure that they would be thinking rationally." *Id.* at 410. Dr. Blaylock offered no opinion as to testator's actual mental status on the date the will was executed. *Id.*

The Court in *Estate of Pigg* found that, at the close of their case, the contestants had produced no evidence that testator failed to have sufficient mental capacity on the critical date of April 10, 1997, being the date the will was executed, and that a directed verdict should have been entered in favor of the proponents. *Id.*

In the present case, the contestants produced Bob's medical records which indicated that Bob ate very little food, was on pain medication "off and on" during the three days at Baptist, he was confined to his room and his bed, and that "[o]n October 1, 2003, the day before the purported will was executed, Bob Noblin was hallucinating and hearing voices. . . ." (See Appellants' Brief, p. 35). According to the partial medical record copied and contained in Appellants' brief, just after midnight on October 1, 2003, Bob became confused and was hallucinating and hearing voices after receiving a dose of Phenergan. (See Appellants' Brief, p. 35).

The medical records dated October 2, 2003, the day Bob signed his will, paint a different picture. While Bob was lethargic, he was easily aroused and would easily wake up and talk to the nurses. (Tr. 212). Additionally, Bob had not been on any pain medication between the hours of 8:30 a.m. and 2:00 p.m. on October 2, 2003. (Tr. 212; R.E. 5). Bob wasn't experiencing nausea and his pain was controlled fairly well. (Tr. 200, 211; R.E. 5). As a matter of fact, Bob did not complain of any pain until approximately 2:00 p.m., after the will was signed. (R.E. 5). Bob was also eating and drinking a little. (Tr. 204).

Contestants called Dr. Shumaker as an expert in oncology who was questioned about certain notes and notations in Bob's medical records. Contestants never asked Dr. Shumaker her opinions concerning Bob's mental status or capacity on the critical date of October 2, 2003 when Bob signed his will. However, when asked her opinions by counsel for Sammy and Sheila, Dr. Shumaker could not give any opinion as to Bob's mental capacity on October 2, 2003 at the time the will was signed and would defer to the nurses' assessment. (Tr. 229-30).

Sammy and Sheila called Nurse Corley Callum, a registered nurse who received a bachelor in nursing at the University of Mississippi Medical Center, who worked at Baptist in the oncology department as of October 2, 2003. Nurse Callum testified as follows:

- 1. Her duties and responsibilities in the oncology department were daily patient care, daily assessments of patients, and administration of chemotherapy. (Tr. 87).
- 2. She also performed mental status assessments on patients. (Tr. 87).

i

3. She agreed to be a witness to Bob executing his will and recalled going into Bob's room where he was seated on the bed with the will on a table in front of him. (Tr. 90, 96).

- 4. She had a conversation with Bob and asked how he was doing and verifying what was taking place (signing the will) was what he wanted to do. (Tr. 91).
- 5. She satisfied herself that this was Bob's wishes and that he did not appear to be under the influence of any drugs at the time. (Tr. 91).
- 6. She read the will as well as the affidavits prior to Bob signing the will. (Tr. 96, 99).
- 7. She satisfied herself that Bob was of sound and disposing mind and memory at the time he executed the will based upon the conversation she had with Bob and that she would not have signed her name to the will if she were not satisfied of this fact. (Tr. 99-100).
- 8. She further satisfied herself that the will represented the intent of Bob at the time he executed the will. (Tr. 110).
- 9. She testified that she would not sign her name to any document that she felt was deceitful and she made her own judgment of Bob's mental status based upon the questions she asked Bob. (Tr. 111).
- 10. She testified that she felt like she was upholding Bob's wishes. (Tr. 112).

This Court held in Hayward v. Hayward, 299 So. 2d 207 (Miss. 1974) it is at that crucial

moment that "... evidence of testamentary capacity attains its maximum and controlling

relevancy, that is, at the time of the will's execution, ... "Hayward, 299 So. 2d at 209-10 (Miss.

1974) (emphasis added).

;

٤

Additionally, this Court has repeatedly held that "[t]he testimony of a subscribing witness is entitled to greater weight than that of witnesses who were not present at the time the instrument was executed or who did not see the test[ator] on that day. In re Estate of Pigg, 877 So. 2d 406, 411 (Miss. 2003), citing In re Estate of Edwards, 520 So. 2d 1370, 1373 (Miss. 1988). Nurse Callum's testimony is the most relevant and compelling testimony concerning Bob's testamentary and mental capacity at the time he executed the will. Nurse Callum is a registered nurse trained and experienced in performing physical and mental assessments, she spoke with Bob prior to signing the will, she satisfied herself that Bob knew what he was doing, she satisfied herself that Bob understood what he was doing, she was satisfied that what was contained in the will was what Bob wanted, and she did not feel as if there was any deceit taking place, and she felt as though she was upholding Bob's wishes.

Contestants additionally point to the differences between Bob's signatures on September 29 and October 2 as an indication of Bob's lack of mental capacity. (See Appellants' Brief p 38-39). However, this contention fails because the contestants did not show that it was in fact Bob's signature on the admissions form. Sammy testified that he completed the admissions paperwork at Baptist on Bob's behalf because Bob was car sick and throwing up, and in addition, they were preparing Bob for a liver biopsy. (Tr. 406). Sammy further testified that the signature on the medical records could have been his. (Tr. 406). This is further supported by the fact that Sammy's name appears next to Bob's on the admission form relied on by the contestants.

Therefore, considering all the evidence in the light most favorable to the contestants, giving the contestants the benefit of all favorable inferences drawn from the evidence, reasonable jurors could not have arrived at a contrary verdict, and therefore, this Court should affirm the grant of a directed verdict in favor of Sammy and Sheila on the issue of testamentary capacity.

II. The Trial Court Properly Instructed The Jury.

ŝ

÷

È.

The contestants assert that the Court must reverse and remand because of erroneous instructions given by the trial court. This Court has announced that "[i]t is well-settled law that an appellate court does not review jury instructions in isolation; instead, we consider them as a whole to determine if the jury was properly instructed on the law". *Milano v. State*, 790 So. 2d 179, 184 (Miss. 2001). "When read as a whole, *if the instructions fairly announce the law of the*

case and create no injustice, no reversible error will be found." Phillipson v. State, 943 So. 2d 670,

671 (Miss. 2006)(emphasis added).

At the close of oral argument of contestants' motion for directed verdict on the issue of confidential relationship, the trial court announced the following:

... Further, a beneficiary delivered the will for execution and apparently held it after execution until probate, and the will was executed within 12 hours of the testator's death. Clearly the active participation by the beneficiaries in the procurement, preparation and delivery of the will, to which the proponents testified themselves, fits squarely within the definition of confidential relationship as defined in the jury instructions submitted by the proponent and the contestant and in the case styled In Re Smith - - In Re Estate of Smith. ... Such actions seem to invite a will contest, but whether the action of the proponents are sufficient to support a verdict of undue influence remains to be seen. For today, however, it's clearly appropriate that we submit the issue to the jury for a decision.

(Tr. 434-35)(emphasis added).

The record in the present case reflects that Sammy and Sheila submitted 17 jury instructions, one of which was a proposed form of the verdict. (Tr. 437-52). Of the 17 jury instructions submitted to the trial court on behalf of Sammy and Sheila, 10 instructions were withdrawn (P1, P3-5, P7-10, P12, and P15), 1 was given as amended with no objection (P2), 4 were given with no objection (P6, P11, and P13-14), 1 was refused by the court after objection (P17), and 1 was given with objection (P16). The only jury instruction objected to by the contestants was P16, which was a peremptory instruction for Sammy and Sheila on the issue of testamentary capacity. (Tr. 451).

The record also reflects that the contestants submitted 17 jury instructions, one of which was the form of the verdict given by the trial court. (Tr. 442-48). Of contestants' 17 jury instructions, 8 were withdrawn (C2-3, C5-7, C10-11, and C16), 7 were given without objection (C4, C8, C12-15, and C17), and 2 were refused after objection by Sammy and Sheila (C1 and

C9). Both were peremptory, with C9 being peremptory on the issue of confidential relationship.

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